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THE REPUBLIC OF UGANDA

IN THE HIGH COURT OF UGANDA, AT KAMPALA

(LAND DIVISION)

cIvIL SUIT NO. 256 0F 2018

SWATT SECURITY LIMITED PLAINTIFF

DEFENDANTS

Before: Ladu Justlce A ndra Nkonoe Ruoad.ua

Judgment:

Introductlon:

The plaintiff company is the registered proprietor of the land comprised in LRV

7297 Follo 75 plot 8 Bulerneezl block 977 at Klsallzl ulllage Nakaseke

dlstrlct measuring approximately 805 hectares, having obtaining registration

from a history spanning from 8th March, 1984.

It was the plaintiffs claim that there was tampering with the suit land record

documentation with a view to defeating the plaintiffs legal interest in the suit

land; and purportedly creating interests over the plaintiff's land to diminish

proprietary and legal interests in land.
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VERSUS

1. GENAGRI PLANTATIONS

2. ATTORNEYGENERAL

3. COMMISSIONER LAND REGISTRATION



That the purchase was preceded by an official search at the land registry through

the plaintiff's lawyers, confirming that the land was registered at that time in the

names ofthe vendor, Kasulu Enterpises Ltd.

The search also revealed the size of the land as 805 hectares and following a

survey commissioned by the plaintiff company to open the boundaries, the

location, existence, size of the land were confirmed.

That a meeting held on 2nd March, 2018 convened by the 2"d defendant advised

that the two plots were situate in different areas and that there was no evidence

that the suit land overlaps the l"t defendant's 1and.

According to the plaintiff, the cadastral sheet, job record jacket and instructions

to survey were fraudulently tampered with, obliterated and/or lost.

The plaintiff company therefore filed this suit seeking a declaration that it is the

rightful owner of the suit land; a declaration that part of the 1"t defendant's land

comprised in LRV 7698, Folio 2 plot 4 Bulemeeezl Block 977 at KlbaJa,

Kyambogo (suit land) is illegal, irregular and fraudulently created; an order that

the 3.d defendant rectifies the register; an order that the defendant committed

fraud; a permanent injunction; general damages and costs of the suit.

The 7.t defendant's defence:

The lst defendant filed a defence and counterclaim in which objections were

raised, that the plaintiff company had no cause of against the l"t defendant

company; and that the suit was vexatious as the prayers sought were untenable

and cannot be maintained in law.
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It also further claimed that the l"t defendant company had no interest legal or

equitable in the suit land in which the plaintiff company has been in occupation

and possession since 2016, and whose history traces back through several

registered proprietors to wit: Denis Kakembo who was the first registered

5 proprietor as on 8th March, 1984 to Kasulu Enterpises Ltd wlrich company

eventually sold the same to the plaintiff company.
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In the counterclaim, the 1"t defendant therefore sought for the following reliefs:

1) A declaration tl'Lat the counterclaimant is the ouner and registered propietor of all

land measuinq 1290 Lrcctares, comprised in LRV 7698 Follo 2' plot 4
Bulemeezi, Block 977, lo,nd dt Klbaja, Kgambogo, Kisagga and entitled to

uninterntpted possesslon thereof;

2) An order compelling the parties to carry out a boundary opening and site location

of both plots 4 a,nd 8 to ascertain and find out the ocreage ond location of each

of the plots;

3l An order for a pennanent injunction restraining the l counter dekndant from ang

continued acts of trespass on the counterclaimants land compised in LRV 7698

Follo 2, plot 4, Bulemeezl Block 977, ldnd at KlbaJa' Kgambogo, Klsagga

or anA part thereof;

That furthermore in the event that the 1st counter defendant's land is found to

be seated on the part of the counterclaimant's larrd:

a) a declaration that the 2"d and 3'd defendants illegallg and unlaufullg

created plot 8 out of plot 4 witltout ang subdiuision and consent of the

counter claimant;

b) an order compelling the 2"d counter defendont to cancel the l't counter

defendant's title on grounds of illegalitg and fraud;

c) a decloration that tLrc 7"t counter dekndant's forceful occupation of part of
the counterclaimant's land amounts to trespass;

d) an euiction order agoinst the 7"1 counter defendont;

e) a permanent injunction restraining the 7"t counter defendant from utilizing

and/ or disrupting the counter claimont's usq possession and utilization of

its land;
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g) mesne profits;

h,l cosfs of the suit

Backqround to the sult:

By way of a brief background to this dispute, the land which was the subject of

the dispute was leased by the Uganda Land Commission in two separate lease

agreements, each for a lease term of 49 years, on separate dates.

The land comprised in Bulemeezl LRv 160g Follo 2, plot 4 Bulemeezl Block

977, Land at KlbaJa Kgambogo, Klsagga Kasallzl, measuring approximately

1290 hectares (5 square milesl (herein afier refened to as plot 4) is registered

under the names of the 1"t defendant company. lt was leased to the 1"t defendant

on 28th November, 1997.

The original owner of the lease interest was M/s Ngoma Galyanaamu Farmers Ltd

who got registered on the title on 29th August, 1988. According to the lst

defendant, the company got into possession from 1997 without any

encumberances. The land was subsequently divided to create other plots, with

plot 65 as the residue.

The plaintiff company on the other hand has been the registered owner of IRV
7297 Follo 75 plot 8, Bulemeezl Btock 977 at Klsallzl Vtllage No,kaseke

dlstrlct, (herein afier refened to as plot 8,f, since l4ttt March, 2016. The first

registered owner on the title was Dennis Kakembo, as at March, 1984.

The plaintiffs interest is derived from Kasulu Enterprises Ltd who became title

owner on 26th May, 2011, for the land measuring approximately 8O5 hectares,

which the l"t defendant company however claimed as plot 55, which was part

of the entire plot 4 acquired from M/s Ngoma Galgawamu Farmers Ltd, the lst

defendant's predecessor in title.

In his counterclaim the 1"t defendant alleged that fraud was committed by the

defendants who purported to create plot 8 out of plot 4.
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That the Commissioner, Mapping and Surveys illegally and fraudulently forged

and sanctioned cadastral maps and deed prints for plot 8 which is indicated as

land subdivided off as plot 4; and that a title had subsequently issued for plot
8, whereas there was no subdivision.

The plaintiff filed a rejoinder, though belatedly but on account of the reasons

that he gave in the covering letter which court considered as plausible, the

submissions in the rejoinder were considered.

3d defendant's defence:

I did not find and defence from the office of the Attorney General. However the

3'd defendant filed a defence, with no reply to the counterclaim. The gist of its

response was that the two parties were claiming different portions of land.

That efforts to address the lacuna were opposed by the plaintiff. Neither of the

titles was to be cancelled until after a site location and boundary opening survey

was conducted to ascertain the nature of the problem.

The 3.d defendant (without prejudice) admitted that both titles had been issued

by it, based on information and minutes from the district land boards and

Uganda Land Commission.

Aqreed facts'.

During the scheduling, the agreed facts were:

7. The plalnttfJ ts the reglstered proprletor of I'RV 7297 Folto 75 plot 8,

Bulemeezl Block 977 at Klsallzl Village Nokaseke dlstrlct, me(Is1.trlng 8Os

hectdres;

2. The 7n delendant ls the reglstered proprletor oJ LRV 1698 Folio 2, plot 4,

Bulemeezl Block 977 at KlbaJa, Kgambogo, Klsagga meastring

approxlmatelg 7 29 O hectares;
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3, Accordlng to the a vsllable records the lnstructlons to sunng both

properales ls LS iVo, [1856.

It is also not in dispute that upon being granted an offer for a lease 5th March,

1.974, an instruction to survey the land was issued under LS No. M.856, dated

4th November 1975.

It is furthermore not disputed that in 1988, a certiflcate of title for the land

described as .LRV 7698, Eollo 2 plot 4, Bulemeezl block 977' Land at KlbaJa

Kgamhogo, KlsaJa Kasallzl measuring approximately 1290 hectares (5 square

miles) fptot 4/ was issued in favour of the l"t defendant's predecessor in title,

DExh 3.

For ptot 8, however, the first title had been issued on 8th March, 1984 under the

names of Dennis Kakembo. Just like for plot 4, it was also issued by the Uganda

Land Commission for a lease term of 49 years.

The 1st defendant acquired the land in 1993 as per the agreement of sale DExh

4 and got registered on the title on 28th November, 1997, under Instr. No. 29091 1.

It is the 1"t defendant's claim that upon such acquisition the lst defendant and

its agents utilized the land for farming and remained uncha-llenged until 2011

when a company caJled LINDA- K Ltd illegally and fraudulently obtained a special

certil-rcate of title for the land comprised in plot 4 and forcefully took possession

thereof, thus dispossessing the 1"t defendant.

ln 2OL2, the 1"t defendant sued both the said company and theChief registrar of

Titles, vide HCMC No. 57/ 2012 for illegally and unlawfully issuing a special

certilicate of title for the land comprised in land plot 4.

In its ruling DExh 5, dated loth October, 2014, this court declared the l"t
defendant as the lawful and recognized registered owner of plot 4, which was

later subdivided into several plots.

Court ordered cancellation of the title in the names of Linda-K Ltd and recognized

the duplicate title of the 1"t defendant as the valid title (DExh 6).
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This court noted however that after the ruling the l"t defendant had sold off 2

square miles, retaining 3 square miles which became plot 65 (residue), claimed

by the plaintiff as plot 8.

The 3.,t defendant maintained that the two were separate plots of land. Indeed,

since by description on the titles plots 4 and 8, respectively as LRV 7698 Follo

2 plot 4 Bulemeezl block 977, KlbaJa Kgamhogo, KlsaJa, Kasallzl (nou plot
65 bg resldue) and LRV 7297 .Fo llo 15 plot 8 block 977, lc,nd situate at
Bulemeezl, appeared to be independent and in different locations, this court

was under an obligation to investigate and make a response to the questions:

al uhether or not the land in the present suit uas also the subject of the

dispute in the concluded suit, HCMC No. 57/ 2012;

cl uthether or not there tuas an ouerlap of plot 8 ouer plot 4 and if so, to

establish the circumstances under uhich the two titles in contention tuere

issued bg the 3'd defendant ouer the same land, beaing different plot

numbers, and seeminglA different locations;

d) generallg, whether or not there was fraud in the creation of either of the

titles, as alluded to bg either side.

Court thus went into a full trial at which the staff from the office of Commissioner

Surveys and Mappings were summoned as court witnesses.

A locus visit was a-lso conducted to establish the truth on actual possession and

ownership of the suit land.

Representatlon:

The plaintiff was represented by M/s Gltta & Co. Adtncates. The 1"t defendant

was represented by M/s Magna Adtncates.
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bl relatedly, whether or not plot 65 and plot 8 uere the same or separate

pieces of tand;
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fssues;

At the scheduling the following issues (as re-numbered by this court) were agreed

upon:

7. Whether the co,da.strol sheet No. BLK- 977 O7-D-N uas tllegallg tampered

wtth by the 2"d and 3,a defendants to credte an ouerlap oJ land comprl'sed

ln LRV 7297 Follo 75 plot 8, block 977, land sltrtote at Bulemeezl and land

comprlsed tn LRV 7698 Follo 2, plot 4 Bulemeezi block 977' land at KlbaJa

Kgambogo, KlsaJa.

2. As betuteen the cert{Tcates oJ tltle Jor land orlginallg comprlsed. ln LRv

1698 Follo 2 plot 4 Bulemeezl block 977, KibaJa Kgambogo, KlsaJa,

Kasallzl (nou plot 65 by resldue) and LRV 7297 Folto 75 plot 8 block 977,

land sltuate at Bulemeezl, whlch ls the valld tttle.

3. Betueen the plalntlfJ and the 7,r defendant uho ls entltled to possession

o;f the sult land.

4. Whether the plainttlf ts a bona fide purchaser Jor ualue ulthout notlce of
land comprlsed in LRV 7297 Follo 75 plot 8 block 977, lo'nd sltuate at
Bulemeezl,

5. What remedles a vallable.

25 Analusis of the lan t and euldence:

Issue TVo. 7: Whether the cdddstrol sheet No. BLK- 917 Ol -D-IV nras llleoallu
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tampered uith bu the 2d and 3d defendan ts to create an oterlao of land

comorlsed ln LRV 7297 Folto 75 olot 8. block 97 land sltudte dt
Bulemeezl and land comprlsed ln LRV 7698 Follo 2, plot /l psbrnggzt U99E

30 917. land at Klbald Kuambooo. Klsalq.

\#^
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By virtue of section 1Ol (1) of Evldence Act, Cdp. 6, whoever desires court to

give judgment to any legal right or liability depending on the existence of any

facts he/she asserts must prove that those facts exist. (George Wlliam
Kakoma a Attorneg General [2O1O] HCB 7 at Page 78).

The burden of proof lies therefore with the plaintiff who has the duty to furnish

evidence whose level of probity is such that a reasonable man, might hold more

probable the conclusion which the plaintiff contends, on a balance of

probabilities. (Sebullba us Cooperdtlve Bank Ltd. [19821 HCB 13O; Oketha

vs Attorneg General Clutl Sult No. 0O69 of 2OO4).

Where a party adduces evidence sufficient to raise a presumption that what he

asserts is true, he/ she is said to shift that burden to his opponent who must

adduce evidence in rebuttal of the presumption. (Taklga Kasu.la,hlrl & Anor vs

Kafungu Dennls CACA No. 55 oJ 2011,)

It was incumbent upon the plaintiff in the instant case to prove that there was

tampering with the cadastral sheet No. BLK. - 917- 01-D-N by the 1"t defendant

in connivance with the 2nd and 3'd defendants, intended to defeat the plaintiffs

interests.

The plaintiff in short, had to discharge the burden to prove that irregular acts

amounting to fraud had been committed by the said defendants with the

knowledge of the 1"t defendant so as to justify the orders sought.

By virtue of section 59 of the Reglstratlon of T'ltles Act. (RTA)' the general

principle is that a title is conclusive evidence of ownership, except where it is
established that fraud was been committed.
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In his rejoinder counsel for the plaintiff argued correctly so, that where issue

JVo. I was to be resolved in the affirmative, the natural implication would be that

20 the 1"t defendant's title would be cancelled.
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It is also trite that no action of ejectment or other action for the recovery of any

land shall lie or be sustained against a person registered as proprietor under the

R?lA. ftet: sectlon 776 (c)).

Among the exceptions to that rule however is where a person is deprived of any

land by fraud as against the person registered as proprietor of that land through

fraud or as against a person deriving otherwise than as a transferee bona fide
for value from or through a person so registered through fraud.

The term fraud inas been defined to imply an act of dishonesty. (I(ampala

Bottlers Ltd. vs. Dannanlaco (U) Ltd SCCA IVo. 2 oI 7992.); an intentional

perversion of truth for the purpose of inducing another in reliance upon it to part

with some valuable thing belonging to him or her or to surrender a legal right.

It is a false representation of a matter of fact, whether by words or by conduct,

by false or misleading allegations or by concealment of that which deceives and

is intended to deceive another so that he/she shail act upon it to his legal injury.

( Ref: f.I. K Zaabue us Orlent Bank and 5 others SCCA JVo. 4 ol 2OO2)

Where an allegation of such gravity is made, the person who seeks reliance on it
must be specifically pleaded and strictly proved, the burden being heavier than

on a balance of probabilities generally applied in civil matters. (Kampala

Bottlers Ltd. Vs Darrnanlaco (U) Ltd (supra)[

Fraud is such grotesque monster that courts should hound it wherever it rears

its head and wherever it seeks to take cover behind any legislation. It unravels

everything and vitiates a,ll transactions. (fom Internatlonal Ltd and Ahmad

tarah as Mohamed El Ftth [19941 KARL 3O7).

In alignment with the above authorities, it was submitted by counsel for the

plaintiff in this suit that the 1"t defendant had no interest in the suit land.
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It was averred that the record documentation (which included cadastral sheet

(PExh 3); instructions to survey; the topographical maps frespectively, CE71(a)

and CE72) had been tampered with by the defendants to fraudulently create an
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overlap of plot 4 and 8, which two plots existed side by side in their form and

shape, before the cadastral sheet was altered.

A copy of the search report was tendered in as PExh 4 to prove that as at 8th

October, 2Ol4 Kasulu Enterpises Ltd wlro sold to the plaintiff as the rightful and

registered owner of p lot 8.

Relying on the testimonies of Put7, Mr. David Kyazze ald Mr. John Barozi as

Put2 and several documents as contained in the trial bundle, counsel further

argued that the deed print for plot 8 had been signed on 16th February, 1980,

while that for plot 4 was signed on 22"d September, 1986, over 6 years later,

and this was conlirmed by the survey report produced by the survey firm of

Sgnergy & Mapping Ltd.

He also referred to certification from the district staff surveyor about the

accuracy of the survey for plot 8. That similar remarks were also made for the

deed print for the neighbouring plot 7 (PExh 2),

However, that there was no such certification and confirmation of delineation

/demarcation for plot 4 by the district staff surveyor and that the defendants

did not offer any explanation for this.

That the copies of the cadastral sheets PExh 3 and PExh 7 show a clear line

demarcating the respective boundaries for both plots 8 and 4, without any

overlapping.

Counsel referring to CE E(a) and CE72 (topographic/ boundary maps) submitted

that the said maps are prepared before the cadastral sheets and deed prints.

Unlike however the cadastral sheets which are transparent films that can be

altered, topographical maps are printed on paper which cannot be altered.

That maps which were presented by CutT reflect the suit land as plot 8 in its

shape and in the shape captured by the deed plan, unlike the cadastral sheet

which had been altered.
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He referred to sectlon a2 oJ the Eddence Act, Cotp. 6 which provides that court

shall presume that maps purporting to be made by the authority of Government

were so made and are accurate.

That in case of any conflict between the deed print attached to the title and the

cadastral sheet, the maps assist in eliminating the issues of overlaps because

whatever is on the deed print should match with what is on the cadastral sheet;

and that the same should have been plotted on the topographic block map.

However unlike ptot 8, plot 4 which had not been plotted onto the topographic

map was never surveyed. It was therefore a fraudulent creation on the cadastral

sheet. The obliteration removed the dividing line in order to create an overlap of

the two plots, whereas not.

Response ba the 3.d defendant:

The 3'd defendant being the office mandated to issue land titles issued both

certificates of titles for the land comprised in .LRY 7698 Folto 2 plot 4 Bulemezl

ln Jannur oJ the 7't detendant and Land comprlsed ln LRV 7297 Follo

75 plot 8 Block 977, in favour of the plaintiff. That both the plaintiff and the

1"t defendant were owners of different certiltcates of title.

That the unrebutted evidence by CutT and CutS on record however draws an

inference that Cadastral sheet No. BLK 917-O1-D-N, the basis of which the

plaintiff makes a claim has no root and no records to support the contents

therein and therefore the same ought to be cancelled under sectdon 97 oJ the

Land Act.

The 3.0 defendant therefore concluded that a finding should be made by court

that the cadastral sheet which the plaintiff claimed was illegally tampered with

by the 3'd defendant did not illegally exist as it had no roots, the same having

10

15

20

25

12

The 3.d defendant's belated submission refuted the allegation of tampering with

the records relating to Cadastrol sheet No. BLK 917 -O[-D-N, in respect of the

plaintiff's land.
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merely been created by the plaintiff or its predecessors in title basing on falsified

information.

Resoonse bu the 7,t defendant:

Counsel for the lst defendant/counterclaimant at the commencement of this

submissions noted a reference to the fresh documents presented to court by

the opposite counsel, together with the final submissions, highlighting parts of

the documents.

As submitted, a court ought to rely on evidence properly admitted and value it

alongside other evidence on record. (Refi Court oJ Appeal" ln C'hil Appeal No.

26/2009 Brian Kaggua Vs Peter Murannlra.)

In the rejoinder, the clarification was made by counsel for the plaintiff was that

the documents referred to were those marked as Ptxh 7, CE E (a) and CE72

which were all in the possession of the 1"t defendant, which therefore puts that

objection to rest.

During trial, the 1"t defendant company on its part relied on the evidence of Mr.

Hanif Moledina Mohamed the l"t defendant' company's Managing Director who

was the sole witness for the defence. (Put7).

The 2"d and 3'd defendants did not present witnesses as the court witnesses

came directly from their respective offices.

Mr. John Vianney Lutaaya, a Principal Staff Surveyor with the oflice of the

Commissioner Surveys and Mapping testified as court witness CurI.

Mr. Musoke Gideon frort Sgnergy Surueys and Mapping, a court appointed

Survey firm testihed as Cw2 and Mr. Joseph Kibande, a Senior Registrar of

Titles, as Car3,

of the lssue:25 Conslderotlo

\,v
t,6
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The submissions filed by each party on every issue were lengthy. Though not

reproduced them in detail I have carefully perused and taken the arguments

raised in each of those submissions when writing this judgment.

In the submissions, it was further claimed that the plaintiff did not specifically

plead fraud. That parties are bound by their pleadings and it is not open to court

to base its decision on an unpleaded issue.

The standard of proof required to prove fraud is higher than that which is

required in any ordinary suit. Fraud must therefore not only be strictly pleaded,

it must also be proved up to the required standard.

In the present case, and as duly noted, no specific act of fraud was pleaded as

against the 1"t defendant company and indeed as submitted by its counsel, no

issue was framed on fraud specifrcally against the l"t defendant or its agents.

Counsel cited the decision of the Supreme Court in Hannlngton Wassua &
Alaor as Marla Ongango Ochola SCCA IVo. 22/93' the gist of which is that a

party cannot seek to rely on allegations of fraud, unless the same were pleaded

and particularized in their pleadings.

The same court in Fo,nglrntll. as Belex Tours and Tra uels Ltd SCCA No. 66 ol
20 73 has however ruled that the current position is that court may accord

parties an opportunity to address it on the unpleaded ground of illegality or

fraud.
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As noted earlier, the 1"t defendant in its defence raised several objections. That

there was no cause of action against it, and that the suit was vexatious and not

maintainable in law.

In his rejoinder the plaintiff referred to paragraph 8 of the plaint contents which

however upon perusal by this court were not particularized as against the 1"t

defendant.



Furthermore, in Slm.bc (K) Ltd & others vs UBC SCCA lVo. 3 oJ 2074 it h.eld

that in such instance the parties have to lead evidence or address it to enable it

to arrive at a correct decision and finally determine the controversy between the

parties.

This may be done at any stage, even after the hearing but court must satisfy

itself that the alleged illegality is sufficiently proved. This principle is based on

the right to a hearing as stipulated under artlcle 28 of the Constltrttlon.

Whereas therefore the particulars of fraud as raised in the plaint were not

directed specifically at the 1"t defendant, there were certain area and aspects on

the illegalities implied from the issues as framed, which this court could not

afford to ignore. Some of these were raised through the counterclaim, with direct

bearing on the plaintiffs claim of ownership of land currently comprised plot
55.

The plaintiff company on its part relied on PExh 7 a certificate of title for plot 8'

It was issued on 8th March, 1984 under the names of Dennis Kakembo, for a

lease term of 49 years, w.e.f 1"t March, 198O. The ownership went through other

registered proprietors from 1985 up to 14th March, 2016 when Kasulu

Enterprises transferred the lease to the plaintiff.

The survey report by Geo-Earth Consultants Suruegors dated lst June, 2017

@Exh 5l indicated the existence of the plot 8 for an area of 808. 713 hectares.

It was however only conducted after the plaintiff had purchased plot 8.

With the specific reference to the tampering with the documentation concerning

the suit land, a concern raised by counsel for the plaintiff, this court had to pick

10

15
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Attached was the lease dated 31st March, 1984 between the Uganda Land

20 Commission and Dennis Kakembo. PExh 4 was the search certificate, dated 8th

October, 2014, which showed that Kasulu Enterprises ltd (plaintifl's

predecessors in title) had a lease of49 years that is dated from 1"t March, 1980.

u"4
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a few elements and aspects of evidence from the plaintiffs own document, PExh

12.

This was internal correspondence dated 16th September,2O2O from the office of

the Commissioner Surveys and Mapping, Entebbe. Below were its contents:

Reference is made to Aours dated 14th September, 202O requesting for the oboue

information. Here attached is an area schedule from Lutuero MZO for your perusal:

In addition to that, atlow me to inform Aou that since 2017 there haue been seueral

isszes and anflicts in connection to that block betueen mainly three groups, ie

GENAGRI Plantations Ltd, SWATT Securitll Ltd and LINDA-K Ltd.

10

15

The ortain of olot 8 block 917 cannot be ascertained apart from it aooeaino in the

Kalamazoo without indicatino its oarent olot. as much as a co u of a oint that uas

20 at one time presented bu one DarTu shoued plot 8 stttina on Darl of olot 4

Please note that plot 8 as shoun on the area schedule has neuer been a deriuatiue

25

ot 4. There is no record o auor o ot8 has

Senlambala luan (RSU, FISU)

Senior Staff Surueyor

Luu.tero MZO.

To corroborate those findings was PExh 6A, the area schedule which indicated

that the plot 8 exists but its mother plot was not indicated anyrrrhere. According

to the surveyors, it was not derived from plot 4.

16

The main contention being betueen GENAGRI Plantations Ltd, the current owners

of plot 4 block 917 registered under LRV 1698 FOLIO 2 and SWATT Secuitg

registered under LRV 1297 Folio 15 on plot 8 block 917. A perusat ofthe auailoble

information reuealed that olot 4 was created as a result of a surueu under IS No.

M856 which tuas issued on the 4th Nouember 1975 in fauour of Ms Ngoma

Galuawamu Farmers and Familu for a surueu of apprortmatelu 1295 Hectares of

land at kibaia. Kuambooo, Kiwooo uillaqes Bulemeezi and accordinqlu the surueg

process utas completed and signed off on the 1&h Mau. 1977.

\ "vY
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5 Going by an inscription on the second page of the area schedule at the bottom

thereof, it becomes clear that indeed plot 8 did not arise out of the mutation of

plot 4.

DExh 2 on the other hand and by way of comparison was the IS M.856,

instructions to survey an area of l29O hectares for M/s Ngoma Galgatuamu

Farmers & Familg, bearing the date of 4th November, 7975.

As submitted by counsel for the 1st defendant, the exercise was embarked on in

1977. As per DExh 3 a certificate of title was issued for plot 4, for the area of

1290 hectares.

DExh 4, is the sale agreement, dated 4th October, 1993 between the 1"t

defendant and the owner/vendor M/ s Ngoma Galgawamu Farmers & Familg

which became the hrst registered owner of that plot on 29th August, 1988. The

transfer of the title to the l"t defendant was made on 28th November, 1997.

The record also shows that on Sth October, 2011,, LINDA-K ltd acquired

proprietorship over that same plot. The 1"t defendant who claimed to have been

in possession of plot 4 since 28th November, 1997 instituted a Miscellaneous

Cause No. 57 of 2O12 against both the Registrar of Titles and' LINDA-K Ltd.

In that application the applicant sought for verification and correction of the

error of transfer of the said plot to LINDA-K Ltd, the 2nd respondent in that

application.

The ruling of this court was delivered on 10th October, 2014. Court indicated

clearly that the survey observations had confirmed the existence of plot 4 on

block 977 on the ground; and that the said plot was intact.
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Plot 4 on the other hand measuring 1290 hectares had (at the instance of the

l"t defendant) been subdivided into several other plots, leaving a residue of plot

65 measuring 807.05 hectares, bearing nearly the same measurements as those

for plot 8.
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It is at that point that the 3'd defendant or the plaintiff and all others affected by

the decision would have sought a review, instead of liling a fresh suit. As it were,

the review was never sought and the said orders of court remained undischarged.

A copy of the consent withdrawal of the intended appeal was also attached as

DExh 7. The court and indeed the Registrar of title in that application duly

recognized the ownership of that land by the applicant/ 1"t defendant.

Two years after this court had confirmed the ownership of plot 4 the plaintiff

had gone ahead to purchase plot I measuring 805 hectares; while the lst

defendant subdivided and later sold part of the land, retaining plot 65 as

residue.

Contrary to the assertions made by the 3'a defendant the location on ground for

both plots 65 and 8 was the same, as also established from the court locus visit.

As correctly pointed out by counsel for the l"t defendant in their submissions,

there was nothing from the record or such evidence by the plaintiff to prove that

before the suit land was purchased in 2016, a survey had been conducted to

ascertain the boundaries and location of plot 8, as an act of due diligence.

The various surveys referred to were all conducted only after the sale and

transfer ol plot 8to the plaintiff. The first two were respectively done on 1"t June,

2Ol7 and 18th June, 2Ol7 and since they were not conclusive, the third survey

was ordered by this court for the opening of the boundaries of the two plots' A

report DExh I6 on the findings was presented to court.

In their report dated 7th May, 2019, the firm of Synergy Suruegs and Mapping

appointed by this court (as per letter dated 15th Januar5r, 2O19) confirmed that

indeed both parties had lease titles issued by ULC under two different files, each

with a running lease.

But that while plot 8 the lease was from 1st March, 1980, for plot 4 was to run

from 1"t March, 1986. That both titles had copies of deed prints, certified by the

Commissioner of the department of Surveys and Mapping.
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The surveyor who filed the report gave two logical explanations to the anomalies:

That either plot 8 was a creation out of the subdivision of plot 4; or plot I was

fraudulently created as an extension from plot 4.

The report also ruled out any possibility that the same instructions to survey

had been issued and used for both plots as indicated in both sets ofdeed prints.

Also evident from the report, plot 8 could have been recorded at the district in

the Kalamazoo but the survey if any, was never processed to completion at the

department of mapping and surveys.

The above findings also received credible support through the evidence of Cut7,

Cu2 and. Cur3. The three court witnesses gave a clear background to the said

such ownership which corroborated the credible documentary evidence of the

court witnesses.

All this led to the acknowledgment of the following findings and conclusions

that:

Where a surueAor is giuen instruc{ions to surueA an area and finds that it is less or

more than what is contained in the IS he or she cannot proceed uith the surueA.

He/ she must seek fresh instructions indicating the land which is auailable;

10
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2. The same IS cannot be used to surueA two seParate areas; therefore it is inconceiuable

that IS No. 856 initiallg issued in 1975 in fauour Ngoma Galya u-tamu Farmers Ltd for
surueg of Land at Kibaja, Kgambogo, Kisagqe, Kisalizt all measuing approx. 1290

hectares (Approx. 5 sq miles) could subseqtently be used to surueA land measuing

approx. 8O5 hectares (Approx. 3 sq miles) in fauour of the plainttlfs predecessors in

title.

3. Plot 8 featured only in the area schedule form, had a deed pint and appeared on the

kalamazoo but uith no oigin and indeed no other information regarding its roots and

no records to show hotu the plot came into being;

4 . Plot 4 had been dulg surueyed and it is out of that plot that plot 65 had been created,

which the plaintiff claimed as plot 8;

30
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5. Plot 4-7 were entered on 18th Nouember 1976 and approued on 23,a March 1977,

howeuer, for Plot 8-9 uhich u-tere not seen angwhere on the cadastral map, the entries

are on 74,h June 1979, u-tith a faint signature purportedly approuing them on 2"d

August 1978. It uas impossible that the plots could haue been approued before theg

were surueyed. It was also inconceiuable that the same could haue been laufultg

approued on 2"d August 1978 before the entries were euen made.

6. The surueg leading to creation of PIot 4 utas done, concluded and approued

before the one alleged to haue been done that led to the creation of plot 8.

Concluslon on the lssue:

From the findings above, the conclusion is inevitable therefore that plot 4 out of

which plot 65 had been created was chatted and surveyed before plot 8, and as

such therefore took precedence over plot 8,

Without verihcation, the Commissioner, Mapping and Surveys had illegally

sanctioned cadastral maps and deed prints for plot 8 which is wrongly indicated

as land subdivided off as plot 4.

The cadastral sheet from the office of Commissioner Surveys and Mapping (which

according to the plaintiff had been altered) did not have plot 8; and as such,

plot 8 was engulfed in plot 4.

The inference is also drawn through the unrebutted evidence by CutT and CutS

that Cadastral sheet /Vo. BLK 917-01-D-N, the basis of which the plaintiff makes

a claim has no root and no records to support the contents therein.

CutT (and indeed all other court witnesses) struck this court as credible

witnesses. Based on their evidence, it is therefore also the conclusion by this

court that fraud was committed in the creation of plot 8 over an already existing

and duly surveyed original plot 4, which was rightfully owned by the plaintiff.

It is therefore surprising that the Registrar of titles having been a party to the

case filed by the 1"t defendant in 2Ol2 and even made to take corrective action
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by court, being the custodian of the register where all information is supposedly

securely and properly kept had gone ahead, first to create a special certificate of

title for LINDA-K Ltd; and then after the court order, cancel the said title in

recognition of the l"t defendant 's title.

In response to lssue lVo, I therefore, the plaintiff could not satisfy this court that

there was tampering of the cadastral sheet No. BLK- 917 01-D-N or supporting

documents attributable to the 1"t defendant. In effect plot 8 did not exist on the

ground.

On the other hand however, there was such manipulation of the survey

documentation in the office of the Commissioner of Surveys & Mapping that

occasioned the creation of two titles over the same piece of land.

The itlegalities committed twice against the l"t defendant over the suit land were

all orchestrated to defeat the interests of the rightful owners of the land

comprised rn plot 4.

Issue lVo, 2: As betueen the certlflcdtes of tltle for land. or1.,1nallu

10

15

20 comprlsed ln LRV 7698 Folto 2 plot 4 Bulemeezl block 977. Klbala

Kuambooo. Klsala, Kasallzl lnow p tot 65 bu resldue) and LRV 7297 Follo

75 plot 8 block 977. land sltuate at BulemeezL uthlc ls the vdlld title.

AND

Issue lVo, 3: Who between the olalntlff and the 7* defendant ls entltled to

25 possession of the sult land.

Counsel for the plaintiff in his submissions claimed that the plaintiff company

but not the 1"t defendant which was entitled to possession of the suit land. In

#y5
21,

s The very same office two years later made entries in the register recognizing the

plaintiff over the same portion of land, without first verifying, ascertaining or

obtaining confirmation on the ground the existence of the plaintifl's land or

subsistence (or otherwise) of the said orders of court.



5 For the I"t defendant however it was argued rightly so, that in absence of any

lease offer in favour of the plaintiffs predecessor from the Controlling Authority,

no title can validly be issued in respect a leasehold interest. (ReJ: Llulngstone

Seuangc,na as Martln Allker SCCA No. 4),

A reference was also made by the plaintiff to sections 5, 76, of the Llmltatlon
Act and sectlon 78 of the R?rl. That based on those provisions the plaintiff and

its predecessors in it title, having occupied the suit land undisturbed for over 72

years, the plaintiff was entitled to claim a legal interest in the suit land as an

adverse possessor. (ReJ: Okullo Makmol Thomas vs Apigo Chil Appeal No.

26 oJ 2016).

The plaintiff's argument was that PurI, John Barozy the MD of the plaintiff

comp€rny testified that the company acquired the land in 2O16. At that time,

there was already a barbed wire and wooden pole fence constructed by the

previous owners around most of the land.

That as per the survey report dated June, 2Ol7 (PExh 5,f, confrrmed by the locus

visit there were homesteads and farming activities by squatters and herdsmen,

plus a valley dam. That there was quiet, uninterrupted enjoyment and therefore

factual possession of the land since 1984, far beyond the statutory period of 12

years.

In any case, sectlon 16 (which is subject to sectlons 8 and 29 oJ the

Llmltatlon Act,) at the expiration of the period prescribed for a person to bring

an action to recover land, the title of that person to the land shall be

extinguished.
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his rejoinder, he stated that an offer of a lease relied on by ths 1st defendant as

having been granted earlier did not confer legal rights to the bearer.

That it is after a lease agreement is signed and a certificate of title created in the

names of the bearer that legal rights are conferred to the bearer of the offer.

$P
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Counsel referred to the authority of Kaggua us Aplre C'ktll Appeal No. 726 ot
2O79 where it has been held that ownership is awarded to the first person who

performs those actions deemed to demonstrate the degree of control over the

land to qualify possession, which, is a good title against all but the owner who

cannot show a prior and therefore better right to possession.

That the 1"t defendant did not discharge the burden to prove that the plaintiff

was not owner of the suit land. That the testimony of Dut7, Moledina the MD of

the lst defendant company on the other hand showed that the comp€rny

purchased the suit land in 1993 but only discovered the alleged trespass by the

plaintiff in 2017 /2Ola, over 25 years later. DutT did not offer any explanation

for the lstdefendant's failure to challenge the alleged trespass by the plaintiff.

He therefore invited this court to decide that the plaintiff was an adverse

possessor thereof.

Replu bu the 74 defendant:

In his response counsel for the l"t defendant referred to the ruling dated loth

October, 2Ol4 (DExh 6), HCIvtA NO. 57 Otr 2072, by which this court declared

the lst defendant as the rightful owner; LINDA -K Ltd had fraudulently

transferred the said plot 4 in its names.

Court ordered for cancellation of the special certificate of title that had been

created in its favour and further ordered the duplicate certil-tcate of title in the

names of the 1"t defendant to be recognized as the valid title and the 1st

defendant/applicant as the owner.

That as a judgment in rem this decision binds all persons including the third

parties. ( SaroJt Go'ndesha us TYansroad Ltd SCCA lVo. 13 oJ 2OO9.l.

25 Reolu bu the 3d de fendant:
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The 3'd defendant counsel in agreement with the 1"t defendant's submissions

argued that the plaintiffs title which was illegally created although issued before

M-A



that of the 1"t defendant cannot be ranked with one which was created legally

and therefore the principle that the plaintiffs title enjoys priority of interest

because it was issued Iirst does not apply in the circumstances of this case.

An illegality once brought to the attention of court overrides all questions of

pleadings including any admissions made. (See Makula Intenrational Vs IIls
Emlnence Cardlnal Nsubuga Wannala & Anor (1982) HCB 11.)

Declslon of court:

A claim against trespass to land can only succeed where the claimant proves

that the disputed land belongs to him/her; that the defendant had entered upon

it and that the entry was unlawful in that it was made without permission; or

that the defendant had no claim or right or interest in the disputed land. /&rsttne
EMN Lutaaga us Stertlng C'lull Englneerlng Co. SCCA IVo, 71/ 2OO2; Shellch

Muhammed Luboua as Kltara Enterprlses Ltd CACA No. 4/1987).

In determining which title is valid, the court is not required merely to look at the

dates of creation of the two titles. It must as of necessity investigate the

circumstances under which both titles were issued and make a finding as to

which of the two titles was created in accordance with the law before determining

which of the two should to be cancelled.

ln Sulelman Adr{sl u Rorshl da Abul Karirn Halanl & Anor Clull Sult No, OO8

of 2077 cotrt observed that land is only available for leasing when it is:

l) u<rcrrnt and there are no conJllctlng clo;lns to lt;

fi) occupled bg the appltcant and there q.re no adverse cldlms to thot
occupatlonl

Ut) uhere the appllcant ls not ln occupatlon but h@s a sttperlor equltdble

clalm to thdt o.f the occ.upant; or

uhere the dppllco,nt is not in occupotlorr but the occupant hos no obJectlon to

the appllcatlon.
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The offer of a lease by ULC to the 1st defendant's predecessors in title in 1974

sigrrified that the land had been available to the 1st defendant for leasing. The

absence of an offer to the plaintiffs predecessor in title on the other hand could

only mean there was nothing to offer them.

In the submissions in rejoinder counsel for the plaintiff argued also that an

instruction to survey was an internal administrative arrangement used by the

Commissioner Surveys and Mapping to carry out its work. It was not a legal

requirement under the RTA for issuance of a title.

Cutl to the satisfaction of this court explained the entire process from grant of a

lease to issuance of an instruction to survey, execution of the instruction,

processing of the job after conclusion of the survey, the drawing, plotting,

issuance of deed prints, to the recording information in the Cadastral sheet and

title processing.

Going by that evidence, the survey for the land to be leased can only be carried

out after instructions (IS) have been duly issued, with each portion surveyed

bearing its own unique and identifying number. The instruction permits a

surveyor to enter and survey the land. It is on the basis of that survey that land

is identified, plotted and a title subsequently issued.
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5 The said land comprised in plot 4 having already been surveyed and the survey

approved by 1977 as pointed out by counsel, there was no longer any land on

the same 1295 hectares that could be allocated to the plaintiff's predecessor in

title for which another valid title could be issued. (Re!: Butanndng., as

Ruamc:tsibuza & others Gtutl Suit JVo. IO3 oJ 1992).

However as duly pointed out by the lst defendant counsel, the evidence by Cur3

on the value and weight of an IS was clear. Where a lease is to be issued, the

primary document is the lease offer which in this case was DExh I, dated Sth

March, 1974, by the Uganda Land Commission, granted to Ngoma Galgautamu

Farmers & Familg Ltd.
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It was Cu, 3's testimony that, at the time plot 8 was allegedly created, it was

possible to provide the land office with a forged title however, with the

computerization of the system now, a title cannot be created where there is no

instruction to survey. The same instruction cannot be used to survey another

area.

With all due respect to the plaintifl's arguments, these survey procedures do not

have to be specifically codified in the RTA for court to regard them as binding or

enforceable.

From the evidence led by both sides therefore, it is more likely than not that SI

No. M856 was intended only for plot 4. It could not be duplicated and or used

for surveying any other plot. It goes without saying that plot 8 uas created after

depletion of that instruction.

This court in any case has already hinted at the issue as to whether or not the

duplicate certilicate in possession by the 1"t defendant was obtained

fraudulently. This had already been addressed by court in an earlier action:

HCMA NO. 57 OF 2072, GENAGRI Plo,ntailozrs Ltd as The Chlef Reglstrar of
Tltles Kampala & Anor.

On page 3O of the judgment court referring to the evidence of two witnesses from

the office of the Registrar of Titles stated as follows:

The confirmation of the ualidity of the duplicate certificate of title in possession orf

the applicant bg Cwl and Bigiira Johnson has not been controuerted. In tle
premises I am fullg satisfied that the duplicate certificate of title .. is a ualid

the 1.t res ndent
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The effect of a title not having a valid IS means that such land was never surveyed

and does not have a root. That if the root does not exist, it means that the title

was not rightly created.

Thus the apolicant's predecessors in title - Naoma Aqali Awamu Farmers Ltd

..-...obtained it tt-tithout anu fraud.
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In coacluslon:

From the above ruling, the issue of the validity of the title comprised in plot 4
was therefore res judicata.

Under those circumstances, the plaintiff's claim on adverse possession based on

the provisions of sectlon 78 oJ the R?)l or the reliance on the application of the

statute of limitation for that matter as against the counterclaimant did not arise.

In any case, neither Kakembo nor Kasulu Enterprises ltd fthrough whom the

cause of action would have first arisen) ever questioned the plaintiff's acquisition,

utilisation, possession and/or occupation of plot  . @eJ. sectlon 5 of the

Llmltatlon Act).

.,,,.,the plalnttlJ must appedr as c, Person aggrleaed bg the ulolatlon of hls

rlght and the defendant as a person uho ls llable. then 7n mg oplnlon a

cause oJ actlon hrrs been dlsclosed IJ on the other hand ang of
those essentlals is mtsslng no cause of actlon h(,,s been shoun....."

In the Iirst place, the pleadings as observed earlier did not particulartze any act

of fraud against the counterclaimant.

But secondly as already noted, the findings have shown that plot 8 did not exist

as it was superimposed onto an existing plot 4; and as the said land belonged

to the I st defendant/ counter defendant already declared by court as the rightful

25 owner..

Ultimately, whatever errors in the survey or other illegal or fraudulent acts

committed prior to 2016 were not attributed to the lst defendant in this suit.
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Furthermore, in response to counsel's concern as to whether or not the plaintiff's

action is maintainable in law and whether the plaintiff had a cause of action

against it, the position of the law as spelt out in Cottar v Attorneg General lor
Kenga 793 AC P, I8, by Sir Joseph Shertdan G.Ias he then was, who had this

to say:

Nj'rt
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Not only therefore did the plaintiff fail to prove that trRV 7698 Nolto 2 plot 4

Bulemeezl block 977, KlbaJa Kgamhogo, KlsaJa, Kasallzl (currently plot 65

by residue) was not validly issued, but it also failed to prove that it had no cause

of action against the lst defendant/counterclaimant. It also goes without saying

therefore that the 1st defendant/counterclaimant is entitled to possession of the

plot 55.

The above therefore resolve tl,e 2n't and 3'd lssaes/.

Did the olaintiff ha oe a cause of action a|oalnst the 2",1 and 3.d

15

20

defendan ts?

It was the plaintiff's argument that any mistake, fraud or illegality that was

committed to procure the certificate of title for Plot 8 cannot be attributed to the

plaintiff/ counter defendant.

Counsel submitted that a meeting held on 2"d March, 2018 convened by the 3'a

defendant after hearing the two sides, had advised that the two plots were situate

in different areas and that there was no evidence that the suit land overlaps the

1"t defendant's land.

Relying on PDxh 73 and PExh 74, argued further that the officials from the

office of Commissioner Surveys and Mapping had refused to avail the plaintiff

with land record documentation and files despite repeated requests to them.

That the court witnesses in court stopped short of saying that the illegalities if
any, were orchestrated by the Commissioner's office and that of the 3'd

defendant, since they were the ones in charge of the survey.
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Counsel also faulted the Survey department for its failure to issue an instruction

to survey the plaintiff's land, which failure could not be the basis for rendering

the plaintiff's title illegal.

The Court oJ Appeal ln AG as HENLEY Properfu Deaelopers Ltd. Ctvtl Appeal
No, 427 of 2O2l held that the Land Registrar guarantees the accuracy of the

register. That the register being conclusive evidence of ownership there was no

need to search beyond the certihcate of title to ensure proven ownership.

That the alleged fraud that the 1"t defendant as a counter claimant seeks to prove

to this court against the plaintiff couid only have occurred prior to the issuance

of the certificate of title for plot 8 in 1984 to the first registered proprietor of the

suit land, Denis Kakembo.

The same certificate of title went through a series of other owners to wit;

Crammer Ddiro Kintu in 1984, and Kasulu Enterprises Ltd in 2011 before it was

transferred to the plaintiff in 2016. Furthermore, that the counter claimant did

not produce any evidence to prove that the plaintiff participated in any fraud

prior to the creation of the title.

As per the authority of A d.rabo Stanleg as Madlra Jlmmg (supro/, a purchaser

under the Torrens System does not need to search back through each previous

trarrsfer.

Instead, the purchaser can rely on whatever name shown on the land title at the

Land Registry. If the title deed shows a person as the owner, the purchaser can

by virtue of sectlon 59 oJ the Reglstratlon of Tltles Act buy the property from

that owner without worrying about how that person became the owner.

The plaintiff counsel further submitted that any omission to issue a separate

instruction to survey for plot 8 was an administrative issue in the office of the

Commissioner Mapping and Surveys and 3.d defendant.

In response, for the counterclaimant it was claimed that the plaintiff had

opposed the proposal by the Commissioner Surveys and Mapping and staff from

10

15

20

29



5

Luwero and district Local Government, and officials from the commandant Land

Protection unit to verify the documents and conduct site location and boundary

opening exercise.

He cited C*nl Appllcatlon 12 oJ2O16 /SC/ Commlssloner Land Reglstratlon
& Anor as Lukudllu, where the Supreme Court held that the land registry is a

public ofhce charged with administration of land in Uganda.

It is an authority as to the ownership and history of registered land. Its evidence

would generally be the most credible and capable of belief on issues of land and

ownership.

The net effect of the evidence adduced by the court witnesses, mainly from the

office 3.d defendant is that the Cadastral sheet sought to be relied upon by the

plaintiff had been illegally created, and tainted with material falsehoods.

Cut3, a Senior Registrar of titles testified in defence of the 3rd defendant that

attempts were made to rectify the issue between the two titles for plot 4 and
plot 8 but that the plaintiff was not comfortable with the process.

The same witness however in his statement went on to deny liability stating that
the ofhce of the 3.d defendant does not handle issues of survey as the same are

handled by the office of Commissioner for Surveys and Mapping, which office

guides that of the 3.d defendant.

The 3.4 defendant in the WSD claimed that the parties were in occupation of two

separate plots but through the evidence its ofhcials contradicted its own

pleadings by admitting that there was an overlap.

That the documents obtained from the office of the Commissioner, surveys and

mapping had revealed that at the time of creation of plot 8, the instruction to

survey which was presented was forged and non-existent.

That such issues were common in Bulemezi where many overlaps occur, arising

from dishonest people from the public; and that is why under sectlon 97 of the

10

15

20

25

\.I 30



5

10

15

25

Land. Act, Cap. 227 such documents are liable to cancellation. No rectilication

was however done.

Conslderatlon bu courti

Sectlon 9I gives special powers to the commissioner to correct its own errors,

where for instance a certificate of title is issued in error; contains a wrong

description of land or boundaries; or is illegally or wrongfully obtained.

The duty of the Registrar of Titles Commissioner Land Registration has also been

described further as follows:

"The delineations propertA boundaies bg field surueAs must be approued

bg a public office. AnA parcel-identifier sAstem can onlA uork if one agencg

has the sole authoritA for assigning identifiers. ... preferably that agencg

tras the sole authoritA for assigning identifiers. .....responsible for land

registration (for example section 152 of the Registration of Titles Act requires

depositing with the registrar, a plan of registered land that has been sub-

diuided for the purpose of selling it in allotments). The role of the public

olfice is to enforce standards for cadastral suruegs formulated uith respect

to identifiers for all boundary points, documentation (mateials, dimension,

reference points), information required on monuments (surueyors' name,

monument number, dates), inuestigotion of surueg errors and their

correction, monitoring of suruegors' uork performance, ueifging the

topographic u.torks done in the field, check the spotial accuracA of location

data, ascertainment of data required in the record of each boundary

segment (identifies of end points and identities of parcels bounded), plans

or plats of surveA $eats, details, cartographg, approuals, mateials), field
books and so on. {...} A ualid title deed should therefore on the face of it be

shoun to haue been based on a reliable surueu (emphasis rr,inel :. (Ad.rabo

Stanleg as Madlra Jlmmg (supra)).
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The 3.d defendant from the above hndings therefore admitted having failed to

apply or exercise those powers when brought to its attention. This was sheer

neglect of duty and inefficiency on their part.

The two titles invariably issued to the two parties bore different details on size,

and location and other entries; and therefore a prospective buyer who failed to

conduct a survey, physical search/visit and proper inquiries would wrongly

assume that the two were different.

Part of the blame was attributed to the Uganda Land Commission, though not

party to this suit, whose role under sectlon 49 oJ the Land Aet, Cap. 227 is to

manage land in Uganda and procure certificates over land vested in or acquired

by Government. The ULC issued two leases around the same time to two different

parties. ULC is an agent of Government. Where an agent makes a contract on

behalf of the principal, the contract is that of a principal. At Common law, it is
only the principal who can sue or be sued. fRef Phenehos Agaba us Srzft
Frelght Internatlonal Ltd HCCS No. 743 of 2OOO.

In this case a-ll the above would explain why the Attorney General, (the 2"a

defendant) was added as a party as the ULC; department of surveys and

Mapping; and the 3rd defendant were all instrumental in creating the confusion

which culminated into the granting of separate titles over the same land.

,ssue IVo. 4: Whether the olaintlff ls a bona flde purchaser for vo.lue

10

20

wlthout notlce of land comprlsed ln LRV 7297 Folto 7 5 plot 8 block 977,
25 land sltuate at Bulemeezl.

This is addressed in part. It is trite law that that fraud that vitiates a land title
of a registered proprietor must be attributable to the transferee and that fraud

,\r 4,
2

It was through the negligence and fraud attributed to the office of the 3rd

defendant, that plot 8 was super imposed on land comprised in IRV 7698 Folio
2 Plot 4 Buletnezl Block 977.

15
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of a transferor not known to the transferee cannot vitiate the title. See: Wambuzl

C.J, Kampala Bottlers as Dam,anlco (U) LTD, SCCA JVo. 27 oJ 2072.

One of the conditions precedent that must be satisfied by the plaintiff who relies

on the doctrine of bonalide purchaser for value without notice is that it has a

valid certificate of title from a person registered as proprietor through fraud or

otherwise. It is not enough to merely plead that there is a certificate. llpoltta
Semuanga us Kwlzera & Others Ctrrl I Sutt No. 61 of [2O L2]UGHC 784).

In absence ofproofthat the plaintiff possesses a valid title the plaintiff can hardly

rely on the defence of a bonafide purchaser for value without notice.

(Llvingstone Sseuangana vs Martin Allker SCCA lVo. 4 oJ 1990.)

Whether or not a party was a bonafide purchaser for value without notice, the

question that a court would poise is whether the defendant honestly intended to

purchase the suit property and did not intend to acquire it wrongfully. (Davtd

SelJaka Nallma us Rebecca Musoke SCCA JVo. 72 of 19afl.

It is also trite that a person who purchases an estate which he knows to be in

occupation of another person other than the vendor is not a bona fide purchaser

for value without notice of the fraud if he/ she fails to make inquiries before such

purchase is made.

The term is defined in Black's Laut Dlctlonary 8Ph Ddttton at pd.ge 7277 to

20 mean:

"One utho bugs somethlng for aalue ulthout notlce of a,nother's clalm to
the propertg dnd wlthout actual or constructloe notlce of ang defects ln or
lnJlrmltles, clalnls, or equlties agalnst the seller's tltle; one who has good

Jatth patd aaluable consld,ero:tlon ulthout notlce of prlor adverse clalms."
25

Halsbury and. Martl.n Modern Equttg (Suteet and Maxuell) Ltd 7977, at page

27 flurll:er provides:

10

15

'V1522



5

uPrior equltable interest ln land can onlg be defeated bg a bonafide

purchaser lor oalue ulthout prtor notlce. Then the egulties are equal and

hls estate prevdtls. IJ he took utith notlce, the positlon ls otherulse, as the

equltles are not equdl If he d.oes acqulre a legal estdte, thei the first ln
tlme thct ls the prlor equltable lnterest preual Ls as equltdble lnterests rank
ln the order of creation."

Thus also where a party fails to satisfy court that there is a valid title from the

registered proprietor from whom the interest was purportedly acquired; where

no proofis provided that valuable consideration was paid; or that there was good

faith in the transaction, the defence of bonafide purchaser for value without

notice cannot be upheld. (See: Da vld SelJaka u Rebecca Musoke Supreme

Court, C-hrll Appeal No.72 (1985).

In Vluo Energg Uganda Ltd os Lgdla Klsltrt CACA NO. 793 ol 2OI3 court

rejected the argument that a certificate of title was enough to establish

ownership where there was circumstantial evidence (as demonstrated in this

case) that should have put the defendant on notice requiring him to go beyond

the certificate of title.

Such faiiure to make reasonable inquiries or ignorance or negligence rs

considered so grave that it has in previous cases been held to form particulars

of the offence of fraud. (Uganda Posts and Telecornmunlcatlons as Abraham

Kltttn$a SCCA JVo. 36 ol 7995).

As noted earlier, by the time the plaintiff purchased the land this court had

already made a declaration that plot 4 out of which plot 65 was created

belonged to the 1"t defendant.

On the issue of prior inquiries with the local leaders where the land is located,

court in JennlfJer Nsubuga as Mlchael Mukundane and Anor CACA No. 2O8

of 2O18 made it clear that though not in statute law consultations with the

leadership of the area is very key in establishing that due diligence was carried

out.
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During the locus visit conducted by this court, there were several occupants

including the plaintiff's agents, squatters and animal grazing on that land. An

injunctive order had been issued by this court vide MA No. 52O of 2078, to

maintain the stafus quo at the time.

There was no local leader or elder who was called in to testify and from the

plaintiff's evidence it was clear that none of them was consulted in 2016 when

the plaintiff purchased the land.

Dr. Kyazze David,(Put7), claimed, (without availing any proof however), that he

was director of Ms. Kasulu Enterprises Ztd. This is the company which had

allegedly sold plot 8 to the plaintiff.

He admitted that no boundary opening exercise was conducted by the plaintiff

prior to the purchase in 2016 or its predecessors in title prior to that, in order to

establish the actual location or ascertain the area or the boundaries of plot 8.

He never visited the area before buying the land in 201 1 .

PnrI conlirmed that at the time of the acquisition of the land, there were some

people on the larrd but that he did not know who these people were; and whether

or not they were from Genagi Plantations Ltd, the l"t defendant/ counter

claimant.

10

15

He stated clearly that he and his co-directors never ascertained the interests of

20 those found on the lald. Even worse for the plaintiffs case, that he did not know

the boundaries of the land comprised in PIot 8.

Had prior inquiries been done, the plaintiff would have discovered that its
predecessor in title were never occupants on that land, They never acquired any

valid interest thereon; and that plot 8 as a matter of fact did existed on the

25 ground.

Put2 Mr. John Barozi during his oral testimony in contradiction of Purl's

evidence indeed lied on oath that a survey had been conducted before the

plaintiff acquired the land. i .

- n^\?Y\\.Jr x
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He relied on a survey report marked as PExh 5 dated June 20 17 yet as submitted

by counsel for the lst defendant, the plaintiff was allegedly registered on the

certificate of title on 14th March, 2016, prior to that survey.

As correctly noted further by him, where no boundary opening exercise was

conducted, the plaintiff could not on its own identify or ascertain the actual area

since the vendor himself was not sure of the area he had passed over to him.

The land it purports to relate to was land that had already been allocated and

surveyed in favour of the 1st defendant under plot 4.

In response to {ssue JVo. 4 therefore, the plaintiff could not under those

circumstances have been a bona fide purchaser for value without notice of the

fraud. His acquisition, occupation and possession of plot 8 amounted to

trespass on plot 65 which rightfully belonged to the lst defendant.

It is not enough for the party wishing to buy the land to search in the Land Office

only for the names of the previous owners and leave it at that; or for the 3'd

defendant to take an armchair decision and issue a title of land without

verification of its background and authenticity.

A substantia-l part of the blame therefore goes to the plaintiff, on account of its

failure to have prior opening of the boundaries and failure to conduct sufficient

inquiries on the huge expanse of land in dispute, before purchasing it in 2016.

The reliefs sought by the counterclaimant in this case were:

10

15

25

a) declaration that the counterclaimant is the owner and registered proprietor of all

land measuing 1290 hectares, comprised in LRV 7698 Follo 2, plot 4
Bulemeezl, Block 977, land at Kibaja, Kgambogo, Kisagga and entitled to

uninterntpted possession thereof;

bl An order for a permanent injunction restraining the l"t counter defendant from ang

continued acts of trespass on the counterclaimants land compised in LRV 1698

20 Issue No. 5: What are the a rlallable rellefs:

v,t,,



5

Folio 2, plot 4, Bulemeezi Block 917, land at Kibaja, Kyambogo, Kisagga or ang

part thereof;

That furthermore in the event that the 1st counter defendant's land is found to

be seated on the part of the counterclaimant's lald:

i) a declaration thot the 2"d and 3'd dekndonts illegallg and. unlaufully

created plot 8 out of plot 4 without any subdiuision and consent of the

counter claimant;

j) an order compelling the 2"d counter defendant to cancel the l"t counter

defendant's title on grounds of illegality and fraud;

k) a declaration that the 1't counter defendant's forceful occupation of part of

tlrc counterclaimant's land amounts to trespass;

l) an evtction order against the l't counter defendant;

m) a permanent injunctton restraining tle 7"t counter defendant from utilizing

and/ or disrupting the counter claimant's use, possession and utilization of

its land;

n) general damages;

o) mesne profits;

pJ costs of the suit.

Mesne proffts:

Sectlon 2 (n) of the C'hil Procedure Act Cap.7I defines mesne profits as;

'......... those profits uhich the person in utrongfitl possession of the property

actuallA receiued or might, uith ordinary diligence haue receiued from it, together

uith the interest on those profits, but shall not include profits due to improuements

made bA the person in wrongfitl possession'.

Counsel submitted that the 1"t defendant's plan was to utilise its land for

commercial farming yet the same has been illegally occupied by the plaintiff
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which has made the l"t defendant lose a lot of economic benefit and farms

thereon.

He cited the case of Buslro Colfee Farmers & Dealers Ltd tts Tom Kagongo

& 2 others IICCS lVo. 532 oJ 7992 to support the view proposition that where

a party is in wrongful possession mesne profits are payable against him.

Courts in that respect often adopt the open market value approach. ( See: Vhn

Energg U LTD us Shlre Petroleutn Co. Ltd & 2 others. fClrrl I Sult IVo.

ooos/2o16).

This court therefore in exercise of its discretion awards a sum of Ugx

TOO,OOO,OOO/= as mesne profits for land measuring 805 hectares, money that

would have been earned by the 1"t defendant each year, from 2016 in respect of

the suit land, had it been put to good commercial farming.

Generg,l damaoes.

General damages are compensatory. (Johnson & Anor as Agneut [197917 All
E.R/ They are awarded at the discretion of court depending in the peculiar

circumstances of each case.

ln ttganda Commerclal Bank Vs Klgozl (2OO2)l EA 3O5, the consideration for

an award of damages was based mainly on the value of the subject matter, the

economic inconvenience that a party has been put through and the nature and

extent of the breach or injury.

In the case of Luzlnda Vs Sselccmctte & 3 Ors (C:luil Sutt -2077/366 [2O2Ol

UGHCCD 2O, it was held that general damages are awarded in the discretion of

court, to compensate the aggrieved party for the inconveniences accrued as a

result of the actions of the defendant.

The record in this case does not give any clear indication of the value of the suit

land, leaving all to the discretion of court.
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Given the period the matter has been in court, and the inconvenience suffered

by the l"t defendant/counterclaimant a sum of Ugx 5O'OOO,OOO/= is a fair

amount awarded as general damages.

As stated in flCCS No. OO24/2O73 Adrabo Versus Madlra Jlmmg since

actions for recovery of land are premised on proof of a better title than that of

the person from whom the land is sought to be recovered, it was critical for the

plaintiff to prove the validity of his title which however in the present

circumstances the company had failed to do.

Sectlon 777 oJ the RTA provides that:

'fupon the recouery of any land, estate or lnterest bg ang proceedlng from
the person reglstered as proprletor thereof, the Hlgh Court mag ln any case

ln t,r.hlch the proceedlng ls not hereln expresslg barred, d.lrect the reglstrar

to cancel ang certlficate of title or lnstrument, or any entry or memorlal

ln the Register Book relatlng to thdt land,, estate or lnterest (Ind to

substltute such certlJlcate oJ title or entry a.s the circ'umsta.nces o:f the case

requlrel dnd the reglstrar shall glue elJect to that ordef'.

In the premises the following declarations/ orders are made:

l. Whereas lt is tnte that the plolntl./|Js' lmpugned tltle was lsdred by the 3'd

defendant on 8th August, 7984 and that of the 7'. defendant uras issued

later on 29th August 7988, the one lss-ued earller u)as erToneously lssued

baslng on falslfied. data ond ls thus illegaN

2. The land strueged and Tnstructlons to sun)eg urcs lssued ln fauour oJ the

7n deJendant's predecessor ln tltle. Bg the tlme oJ the purpofted surteg

ln faaour of the plainttf!, upon whlch the tltle for the platntlff utas

issued, there uas no longer ang land. a uallable Jor lease and grant of tltle;

3, , The platntlffs tltle plot 8 utas super lmposed on land alreadg acqulred

under plot 4 belonging to the 7't defendant.
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4. The valtdltg oJ the certlficate oftitle Jor plot 4 was concluded bg thls court

and thereJore res Judlcata.

5. The plalnttff s tttle comprised ln plot 8 ls llable to cancellatlon;

6. Accordlnglg, the 7.t defendant/ counterclalmant ls the otoner d.nd,

reglstered. proprletor of all land measurl.ng 7290 hectares, comprlsed ln

LRV 169a FoHo 2, forrnerlU plot 4 Bulemeezl, Block 917' land at KlbaJa,

Kyambogo, Kls(rgg(r and entltled to uninteftupted possesslon thereof;

7, An order Jor a pertnanent TnJunctlon issues, restrclnlng the plalnt{f/l*
collrnter defendant Jrom ang continued acts of tresPolss on the

counterclalmants land comprlsed ln LRV 7698 Follo 2' plot 4, Bulemeezl

Block 977, land at Klbaja, Kgantbogo, Kisagga or ang part thereof;

8. a declaratlon lssues thot the 2"d counter defendant Jraudulently lllegallg
and unlauJullg created plot 8 out oJ plot 4 tulthout ang subdlvlslon and

consent oJ the I't defend,ant/ counter clolmont;

9. an order 7s granted cornpellTng the 2"d counter defendant to cdncel the 7"'

collnter detendant's tltle on grounds of tllegalttg and Jraud;

10. a declorr:'tlon that the plalnttlfs 7'r counter deJendant's forcefut
occupation of pa* o.f the counterclaimant's land amounts to trespass; an

ettlctlon order dgdlnst the 7". counter defendant;

11. mesne pro.fits of Ugx TOO,OOO,OOO/= shall be pagdble bg the 2"d and

3d defendants to the 7't defendant/counterclalmant as mesne Pro:fits that
the sald compang uould have earned. ln profits fron 2076' but Jor the

rrctlons oJ the defendants;

12. costs of the 7* deJendant shall be met Jotntlg betueen the platnttlf
and the 2"d and.3.d defendants;

13. general danages oJ Ugx SO,OOO,OOO/=;
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14. lnterest oJ 15% per o,nnum in respect oJ orders 77 and 73 aboue'

pagable Jrom the date of recelPt oJ thls iudgment to date uhe

r5. costs of the sult,

5

A

Judge

7?n June, 2023
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